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This Court has jurisdiction to review the Conmissionrs

orders under section 19(b) of the Natural Gas Act, 15 U'S'C'

S 717r(b).
8:rATEtdBlt.l[ oF lrEB I88UE8

t-. I{trether the Federal Energy Regfulatory Connission

(ttConmissiontt or trFERCrr), having Properly found that

Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line corporation (nTGPLtt) had violated

the the Natural Gas Aet (rtNGAtr), 15 u's'c' 'tL7 et 94-r imposed a

larsful remedy for such violation.

2. I{hether the Commission properly rejected claims of

North Carolina Utilities Conmission (rtNCt C't) and the Long Island

Lighting Cornpany (rrLILCOrr) that the Commission should have

imposed further remedies, and the clain by Ncuc that it was

prejudiced by an alleged ex p3rte contact'
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8tre[E]tEU'lr oF lrEE CASE

I. Introductiou: Nature Of lthe Caee

In this case, the cornnission found that TGPL engaged in a

series of transactions that violated the NGA and overcharged its

regulated custoners by forcing them to subsidize TGPLTS losses on

sales in the spot market for gas. First TGPL, through its

affiliates, sold gas in the unregrulated market at prices below

its cost and the filed rate for the gas. u TGPL then bought

even lower-cost gas that it was already under a contractual

obligation to purchase from producers with revenues derived from

the illega} sales. TGPL recorded this replacement gas, not at

its actual cost, but at TGPLTs much higher filed rate' When TGPL

attempted to pass through to its regulated on-system custouers

the difference -- approximately $75 nillion -- betseen the cost

of its replacement gas and its filed rate, the Commission denied

this passthrough.

II. Course of Proceediags end Decisions Belou'

1. The proceedings below were divided into two phases. In

Phase I, relating to charges that TGPL had violated the NGA, 8D

Adninistrative Law Judge (AIJ) found that TGPLTs discounted sales

u Section 4 (d) of the NGA prohibits natural gias eompanies such
as TGPL from selling gas for resale in interstate commerce
at any rate other than one that is on file with the
Conni-ssion. This is eommonly known as the rrfiled rate
doetrine.rr See Arkansas Louisiana Gas Co. v. HaI}, 453 U.S.
57L, 578 (1981) rrt:he Act bars a regulated seller of
natural gas from'citiecting a rate 9th9f than the one filed
with the Commission . ."). A pipeliners filed rate
contains as one of its key elements its cost of purchased'
gas. , 9q-9:r El Paso Gas Co. v. EE$13, 67'l F'zd 22, 23
(sth Cir. 1e82).
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of its sYstem suPPIY gas violated

U.S.c. 717c(d), because theY were

Section 4 (d) of the NGA, L5

made betow TGPLTs filed rate'

Transcontinentat Gas pipe Line corp., rrrnitial Decision--Phase

I,"44FERCI53,016(1988)rR'8413-8428'TheAIJalso
concluded that because TGPLIs discounted sales were made only to

rnoncaptiverr customers -- customers with readily available'

competitively priced alternative sources of gas -- TGPL unduly

discriminated against its rrcaptive custogers,tr in violation of

section 4 (b) of the NGA. Finally, because certain volumes of the

below-cost sales had been made to TGPLTs off-system customers

without a certificate, the ALT found that these sales also

violated the certification requirements of section 7 (c) of the

NGA.

In phase II, relating to the issue of remedies, the AIJ

found that TGPL should not be allowed to pass through to its

jurisdictional customers $75 million in proposed surcharges,

based on TGpLrs inflated rrrecordedrr costs, because they exceeded

the actual cost TGPL paid for the replacement gas with revenues

derived from its illegal sales. He also recommended that the

Cornmission require TGPL to disgorge the approximately $36 nillion

including interest in net transportation revenues TGPL earned by

rnaking these unlawful sa1es. Transcontinentat Gas Pipe Line

99 -, ttlnitial Decision--Phase II Remediesr tt 49 FERC I 63,O32

(L989), R. 93OO-9325.
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2. In an oPinion issued on Septernber L2, 1990, the

conmission affimed the AIJrs decision. Transcontinental Gas

pipe Line corp., f,order Affirming Initial tlecisiotl,tr 52 FERC

I 6L,248 (1990), R. 9936-9950. On rehearing, hovever, the

Conmission set aside the AIJ r s reconmendation requiring TGPL to

disgorge $36 million in transportation revenues in light of

conditions in the gas industry prevail.ing at the time of TGPLTS

violations. Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp', trOrder Denying

Rehearing in Part and Granting Rehearing in Part,n 58 FERC

1 6L,O23 (Lggzr, R. 1O5O8-1O533. On further rehearing' the

Commission upheld its prior rehearing order. Transcontinental

Gas Pipe Line Corn., rrorder Denying Rehearingrn 58 FERC I 6L,289

(Lgg2), R. 10550-10555. AccordinglY, under the final disposition

of this case, the Connission refused to allow TGPL to pass

through g75 nillion to its customers, .representing comPensation

to TGPL in excess of its actual cost of gas.

fII. Stateueat of the Facts

A. l[he Initiation of Ihe Proceediags In ltbig case

This case commenced on May 15, 1985, when TGPL filed a

proposed settlement sith the Conmission on a variety of issues

related to its transition to an tropen access transporterrr

pursuant to Commission Order No. 435. U When a number of

[1982-1985 Regulations Preambles], FERC Stats & Regs,
i 30,665 (r.9g5). Under Conmission Order No. 436, qhich
fecame efiective on November 1, 1985, the Coumission granted
fipefines blanket authority to transq?rt gas on behalf of
;a-h;; provided that they igree to. offer such transportation
senricei on an rropen accessrtt nondiscriminatory basis. 18

(continued. . . )

u
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parties objected to TGPL,Is proposed passthrough of $75 nillion of

alleged unrecovered purchased gas costs in TGPLTs purchased gas

account (,PGA'' or l|Account No. 19111) , !/ the Commission severed

that issue along with questions concerning TGPLTs past purchasing

practices and remanded these issues to an AIJ. Transcontinental

Gas Pipe Line corrc., 36 FERC I 6L,286 (1986), R. 5959-5951.

On September 15, Lg87, following an initial decision on remand,

the cornmission issued an order in which it found that the

U(...continued)
c. F.R. S 284 .22L-

At all tines retevant to this case, the rropen accessrl
nondiscriminatory transportation policies of Commission
contained in Order No. 436 were not applicable to TGPL'
TGPL had a rnon-sales displacement transportation policytt in
effect which meant that TGPL would not provide transPor-
tation setrrices on behalf of a supplier or customer where
ttre transaction rrrould displace a sale of systen supply by
TGPL. R. 27OO, 2874.

3J Under Conmission regulations in effect in 1985, a pipeline
vras pernitted to fiie a purchased gas adjustment (PGA) every
six months to reflect in its FERC Account No. 191 any
variance between actual gas costs for the past six uonths
and the estimated base rate. See e.g. El Paso Natural Gas
co. v. rERC, 577 F.2d 22, 23 (sth cir. 1982). See also R.
3830-31.

when actual gas costs exceeded the estimated rate
during a six-montfr pea billing cycle, the deficiency between
the bise rate and actual costs vas collected as a surcharge
during the following six months. Conversely, Uhen gas costs
were exceeded by the estimated base rate, overrecoveries
uere refunded through a credit during the next six month
period. R. 3830-31. This estimated rate (including any
iurcharge or credit) was also known as the I'filed rate.tl

Costs passed through PGAs are provisional only and are
subject to ieview, reviiion, and refund, both prosPectively
ila-retroactively, when the pipelinets rates are reviewed
under Section 4 or 5 in its next general rate case. See
Associated Gas Distributors v. FERC, 706 r.2d 344, 345-46,
348 (D.C. Cir. 1983) .
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questions raised regarding the propriety of certain transactj'ons

between TGPIJ and two of its uarketing affiliates had not been

adequately probed by the AIJ, and it therefore' remanded the

proceedings for further hearings. In addition, because evidence

presented at the hearing on remand suggested that TGPL may have

committed violations of the NGA, the coumission ordered ttre

Enforcement Section of its Office of General Counsel to

participate in the hearing on remand. Transeontinental Gas Pipe

Line Cor?., 40 FERC I 6L,332, at P. 61,788 (1987), R. 7067-7072.

B. lf,he Eeariucrs Before The AIJ

Issue Took Plaea

As the evidence addueed below establishes, in 1985, the time

frame relevant to this case, there were essentially two sources

of gas supply available to the 'tjurisdictionaltr customers of

pipelines. Y The first was pipeline system supply--gas

purchased by pipelines to serve their resaLe customers R. 3237,

3239, which pipelines could lawfully seII only at rates on file

with the commission. see section 4 (d) of the NGA. y The

During the time frame relevant here, rrjurisdictionaln or
rron-systemrr customers were customers, such as local
distr-ibution companies, which purchased pipeline gas -supply
for resale in inlerstate commerce pursuant to a certificate
of convenience and necessity issued by the Cornmission under
Section 7 (c) of the NGA, See also NGA S 1(b) ; Panttandle
Eastern Pipe Line Co. v. Public Se:rr. Cornmrn, Indiana, 332
u.s. 5o-7 , 5L7 (L9471 .

The Conmission requires trrolled-intr pricing for system
supply g?s, whiehheans that pipelines must price this gas
in- lfreii rates at its rrweighted average cost of gastl
(wAcoc). see Clenerallv CSg Exploration co. v. FERC, 930

(continued. . . )

1.

u

5/
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second was spot market supply--gas acqluired by resale customers

directly from prod,ucers or gas marketers, which ttrerefore was not

subject to regulation under the NGA and coul'd be sold by the

producers or marketers at whatever price the market would bear'

R. 3L26, 3L28-3O, 3828. g

TGPLTs actions at issue here took place against the

following regrulator':f background. During a period beginning about

Lg82, pipelines began to face softening demand for their gas

supplies due to a recession, price competition from alternative

fuels, and non-resPonsiveness of regUJ-ated gas supplies to market

signals. See 9-&-r Mar-lrland PeoPlets Counsel v' EEK', 761 F'zd

76g (D.C. Cir. 1985). In addition, they faced increasing

exposure to take-or-pay liability due to their inability to meet

minimum take requirements of their supply contracts with

producers.

In an effort to alleviate some of these problems, the

Coumission approved ltspecial marketing programsr (SltPs) on a

temporary, experiuental basis. under these Profrrams, the

Coumission allowed pipelines to release unneeded gas subject to

5/ (.. . continued)
F.2d L477, 1483 n.3 (10th cir. 1991) 

' 
se? also I.aclede Gas

g/ Unless deregulated as of January 1, 19851 8g Section 121
(a) of the Natural Gas Po1icy Act of 1978 (nNGP.A'r) , 1?.
U.s.c. s 3331, this gas t,as suuject to NGPA Pr+ce cei}ings
that varied depending or its statutory classification. See
NGpA SS 102-100. However, at tines relevant to th1s case,
the market-clearing price stas below the NGPA ceilings, and,
thus, spot market gal prices were dete3mined largely by
conpitilion among producers and rnarketers'
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high take-or-Pay reqgirements for sale by producers or marketers

in the spot uarket at market-responsive prices' Once the gas was

released, and sold, pipelines couLd then transport it under

tenporary or btanket eertificates to end users tlho were not

captive customers of the pipeline . u In June 1983, the

Conmission authorized TGPL and its suppliers to particiPate in

the SMP program. See ggr Producer-Suppliers of

Transcontinental Gas Supplv Coro. , 23 FERC I 61 1460 (1983) '
In Septenber 1984, seekinq to ensure that resale customers

would also have access to cheaper released prgducer 9BS, the

Cornmission conditioned extension of SUPS upon pipelines agreeing

to grant their fim resale customers, including captive

customers, access to volumes of released gas equivalent to 10

percent of the customerst firm sales entitlement, i:.,S-r 10

percent of the maximum volune of gas that the customers could

demand. Tenneco Oil Co. , 28 FERC t 511383 at 611690 (1984)

(ordering ParagraPh (rr) (a) ).
TGPL did not accept these conditions. Instead, it proposed

a compromise Sl{P, known as the rDSr program, under which all' of

its customers could Purchase, and have transported by TGPL, up to

three percent of their firm sales entitlernent sithout

gualification, and could purctrase an additional seven percent of

their contract entitlement if they purchased certain rrthreshold

levelstt of TGPL system supply gas. The Conmission approved

U Transportation-only setrrices by.pipelines on behalf of end
users required prior authorizati.on from the Conmission under
Section 7(c) of the NGA.
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TGpLrs DS program on March 27, 1985. Transcontinental Gas Pipe

Line Corp., 30 FERC I 6Lr322 at 61 1637 (1985). However, because

the record in TGPLTs DS proceeding had been filed on apPeal of

the Conmission orders in that proceeding in the D.C. Circuit, the

Ds proceeding was technically no longer subject to the

Conmissionrs jurisdiction. U For this reason, the Commission

e:rplicitly stated in its Marcb 27, 1985 order that its order

would not become effective runless and until leave of the [D.C.

Circuitl is obtained . . . to permit Transco to implement the

authority granted herein.tr 30 FERC at 61 ,L4L-42.

2. TGpL,ts Echene To 8e11 Gas f1legallv Ia Violatioa
D

7 (cl Certifieate
wtren the D.C. Circuit had not acted on the Conmissionrs

reguest for leave by April L985, TGPL took matters into its own

hands . At f irst, TGPL I s corSorate parent , Transco Energry,

directed TGPLTs marketing affiliate, Transco Resources, fnc.

(trTRIrr), to sell trnonjurisdictional[ released gas at market-

responsive prices--a lawful transaction. 2/ Under this
program, TGPL would transport gas on behalf of TRI pursuant to

special NGPA S 3L1 blanket transportation authorization.

R. 7890.

See Section 19 of the NGA, 15 U.S.C. 5 7L7r.

This rrnonjurisdictionalrr gas purportedly consisted of gas
released by TGPL to avoid take-or-pay liability, which, in
effect, allowed it to be sold in the spot market at market-
responsive prices. As discussed infra, TGPL soon began
marketing, through TRI, non-released jurisdictional system
supply under a pretext that it vas nonjurisdictional
released gas or spot market supply.

s./

9J
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.TRlbeganmarketingthisgasunderitstrnonjurisdictionaltr
plan primarily to TGPL,ts noncaPtive eustomers in April 1985'

R. 3260. Demand for this gas irnnediately exceEded rRrrs supply.

I{ithout informing its customers, TGPL soon began delivering

rrjurisdictionaltr gas from its system supply reseri'es to them

through TRI at the same Iov market-responsive prices' n' 3267 '

TGPtreceivednopa]rnentsfromTRlforthissystemsupplygas'in
addition, TRI had made no arrangements at this time to return the

gas to TGPL. R. 28L7 t 3282-84'

In May 1985, officers of TGPL and its corporate parent

specifically decided to continue its sales of TGPLTS system

supply gas through ERI at prices that were below TGPLts filed

rate. R. 3269-70. In addition, because TGPL wished to sell even

higher volgnes of its system supply gas than TRI I s marketing

efforts could aecommodate, TGPLTs col?orate parent established

TEII{CO to market surplus gas from TGPt ahd other sources'

R.'1823-24.

As it turned out, the D.C, Circuit never sanctioned TGPLTS

DS program. Instead, on May 18, 1985, the D.C. Circuit issued

its decision in Marvland Peoplets Counsel, 76L F.2d 768 (D.C.

Cir. 1985) (!{PC I), vacating Conmission orders approving an SMP

similar to TGPLTs earlier SllPs. In the D.c. circuitrs view, the

Commission had acted arbitrarily and capriciously by approving
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Sl{ps ttrat allowed pipelines to deny captive customers access to

the cheaper spot market supplies under ttre progran. Lgl

undeterred by this judicial decision, TGPL continued

delivering its system supply gas to noncaptive customers at

below-cost prices throughout the srunmer of 1985. 1g Between

April and August 1985, rGPIJ delivered 49.5 nj.llion Dth of TGPLTS

system supply, accounting for 55t of the volumes ERI sold' R'

7831-33 , 9766-57. In addition, in June 1985 TGPL began

delivering jurisdictional gas to non-captive customers through

be1-ow-cost sales by TEMCO. fhese sales lasted until Noveuber

1985, and amounted to 48.3 nillion Dth, or 32* of TEMCOTs sales

volumes. R. 7831-33 , 9766-6'1 - U/

LY

w

In Marvland Peoolers Counsel v. EEB€, 751 F.2d 78O (D.C.
Cir. fges) (t{PC IIt, decided that same day, the Court
vacated. a Counission program granting blanket authorization
for pipelines to transport spot market-gas on behalf of
certii-n end users without ofiering similar transportation to
captives, because the Connission had slighted 1t?-ilprime
co-nstituencyr rt namely, captive customers, by rtfailing to
evaluate the anticonpetitive consequencesrr of its
transportation Program.

Despite its sinilarities to the DS program, TGPLTs marketing
of -systern supply through affiliates represented a drastic
depahure fron lff SUp-type programs previously approved by
the Comnission. Unlike TGPLTs sale of system supply here,
which had not been released to the spot market, the DS

progrram and all other SMPs involved sales by producers or
iarleters of released gas no longer regulated by the NGA.
Ttrus, there were illegalities present in this case that If,ere
not involved in the It{Pc I and MPC fI cases.

The remaining volumes of IRI and TEMCO gas (i.e: r Tot
involving TGFLTs systen supply) were lawful nonjurisdic-
tional siles not under challenge here. R. zAZa. These sales
aia ""t give rise to any of the so-called transportation
imbalancis at issue in this case. See R' 2838-41'

LU
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Asnoted,customerswhichboughtthel|cheapertrsupplies

throughTRIandTE!{coatmarket-responsivepricesthoughtthey
tleregettinglawfullyre}easedgas.R.2TT2.Nonewasawarethat
whatitgasactuallyreceivingwasgasdedicatedtoTGPl,tssysten
supply. Id. TGPL generated some $ae roittion including interest

in transportation revenues from these sales of its slrstem supply

gas.

3. ,repr,, s lttenpt Tc. rEFIoit Tbe =N9A=Req!1=?torgtnrctu:re fo g a9eguences of
Its Belor-Costmuri s di ctional
Customera

Tcpr,rs diversion of its jurisdictionar system supply gas to

the non-NGA-regulated segment of the gas uarket had a direct and

adverse effect on all of TGPLTs jurisdictional customers' captive

andnoncaptive.Theweightedaveragecost(wAcoc)ofTGPLls
jurisdictj.onalgasatthetineofthebelow-costsa}esgas

approximately$3.3operDth.R.3a2,8415.E,JHowever,TRI

sold TGPLTS gas betow cost for approximately S2'55 per Dth during

thatsameperiod.R.965l.Sinilarly,TEr.IcosoldTGPLls
jurisdictional supply below cost for $2.23 per Dth' E' If TGPL

oritscorporateparenthadrequiredTRlandTEll[Cotoremitto

TGPL ttre proceeds of these sales, TGPL WoUld have been faced with

an underrecovery of $?5 nillion due to the difference between the

L3iThroughouttheperig!,T9!!]=||filedratel|was$3.01(R.
78391, *tri"n ,eint trrit-repL would collest the difference
between tfre $3.30 and $3'01 on every Dth of-sl?I"'supply
sotd froi"itl-j"ii=diciional customers -- captive and non-

captive -- tr,riugh an Account No. 191 surcharge. TGPL was

permitted to coliect ttris difference, and this amount is not
at issue-in tfris appeal' See note L9' infra'
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actual cost of the gas sold and the lower prices TGPL charged for

it.

TGPLsought to avoid these losses by arranging with TRI and

TE}ICO to be repaid in gas rather than the revenues that TRI and

TEUCO cotlected from the below-cost sales. Thus, in May and June

19g5, TGPL directed TRI and TEMCO to PrePay TGPLTs producers for

certain rhigh-cost[ gas supplies, which TGPL was under a

contractual obligation to take for $13-$14 per Dth, but which

were not scheduled for production until the fall of 1985' when

this gas rras eventually produced, it was understood that I1RI and

TEI,ICO would turn it over to TGPL as replacement gas for the

system supply that TGPL originally sold through them. As

consideration for the prePalments, TGPLTs produsers agreed to

lower their prices to market-responsive levels.

TRI and TEMCO accordingly prepaid for |treplacementrr gas with

proceeds from the unlawful sales of TGPLTs systern supply gas' As

it turned out, the affiliates paid the same prices for the

eguivalent volumes of the rtreplacement gast' as they received in

the sales of TGPLTs system supply. R. 3305 ' 33'70' Y/ After

the prepaid gas had been produced and delivered to TGPL at no

cost, R. 78L}A-782O, TGPL sold the replacement gas in regrular

system supply sales from September 1985 through April 1986 at its

filed rate of $3.Ol Dth, plus the applicable Account No' 19L

TRI paid TGPLTs produsers approximately 9Z.SS per Dth for
voluires to be delivered to TGPL beginning in September 1985.
R. 9677. Sirnitarly, TEIICO paid TGPLTs producers
ipproxirnately $2.23 per Dth for vorumes to be delivered
ULginning November 1985. R' 9677 '

ul
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surcharge then in effect. R. 2820. & note 3, suPra. This

period included the sinter heating season, a tiue when it was

easy for TGPL to sell systen supply gas.

TGPIJ accounted for its sales of the repLacenent gas in a

manner that precluded itE custouers from benefiting frou the

actual low cost -- $2.55 Dth and 92.23 Dth -- that the TGPL

corporate fanily had paid for it. For accounting Purposes, the

cost TGPL assigned to this gas was not the actual cost to its

affiliates; rather, TGPL recorded the cost at its then current

filed rate of $3.o1 Dth. R. 2o79-8O.

By recording the purchase of the repJ.acement gas at this

inflated cost, TGPL attempted to pass through to its juris-

dictional customers the difference between its filed rate and

what the replacement gas actually cost--or $75 nillion- E/
If the Conmission had allowed passthrough, the cost of gas

to TGPLts jurisdictional ratepayers would have been $25

E/ This also haPPened to
failed to recover its
through TRI and TEI'ICO.

be the same amount by which TGPL
cost as a result of below-cost sales
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ltil higher tlran if the actual cost

been ineluded in TGPLTs rates' R'

of the

9678.

replacement

1.

In an initial decision issued on Augiust 29, 1988, addressing

only liability issues, the ALI found that TGPL had operated as a

single entity with TRI and TEI-ICO to exploit the dual narket for

gas. The AIrr concluded that TRIrs and TEUCOIs sales of TGPLTS

system supply gas were actually below-cost sales made directly

from TGPL as seller to fRlts and TEMCOIS customers as purchasers'

in violation of the filed-rate requirements of section 4(d) of

the NGA. In addition, the AIJ found that, because some of TGPL! s

system supply gas had been sold through llRI and TEMCO to rroff-

systemrr resale customers, -G-r to customers to whou TGPL had not

received conmission authorization to seII 9its, these sales

viotated NGA S 7(c). E R. 8422i 44 FERC at P' 55'056'

In ttre AIJIS VieW, there was ample support for this one-

company approach. R. 8420-22. He Obsenred that the composition

g TGPL had actually recorded this allegedly unreeovered cost

- as s78.2 ,iiii"", which u?s p?+_of the unrecovered $81
niliion pGA balance TGPL iniliatfy sought to recover from
it=-j"riiaictional customers. However, uPon reaching the
prop6="d-;;ta1;"rrt i" uay 1e85,_TgPL agreed to foregro $s
iifiion of this amount. See R' 3831'

Thus, for Purposes of this ease, the AIJ' !h"
connission, and-a1i of the parties have referred to this
amount 

"r--$ZS 
,iiiion. To ivoid confusion, this brief also

refers to TGPLTs unrecovered purchased cost balance as $75
million, even though TGPL nay have originally computed it as

$78.7 million.
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of the TRI, TEMCO, and TGPLTs corporate hierarchies was virtually

identical and that TGPL had often overlooked cor"porate

distinctions in carrying out its sales-and-repirrchase scheme '

R. a42o-2]-. In the vords of the AIJ:

Arrangementsbetweenthesrrbsidiaries[of
TGpLtl corporate parent, Transco Energyl were
wtrotty infirual. The pipeliners chief
witneis, also an officer of TRI, co9ld-Tot

","', 
remerober his title gith the sr:bsidiary.

trr"r" multi-million dollar transactions all
occurred under a rrgeneral oral agreementrr
without any legal instnrments or written
agreements- gov-rning ' the rrloansrr or
their trrePalment. rr

R.g42L,44FEReatp.65,055.TheAIJalsofoundthaton
occasion it was TGPL which had approached producers and arranged

vith them to accept prepalments from TRI. R. 842L. He further

noted that on another occasion, a customer returned an executed

TRI contract not to fRI, but to TGPL itself . I!1.

The AIJ also concluded that the transactions at issue

were sa}es, and not, as TGPL had claimed, trtransportation

imbalancesrt -- a term generally used to describe situations that

arise inadvertently when transportation customers of a pipeline

take more gas from the delivery end than they cause to be

injected at the supply end. 44 FERC at p. 551054.

As he explained, this case was entirely different because it

involved, not transportation, but Itthe sale in interstate

conmerce of natural gas for resalertt governed by the NGA. fd.t

see also NGA S 1(b), 15 U.S.C. 7L7(b). The AIJ also noted that

under settled precedent the tem rrsalerrr within the meaning of

NGA Sl(b), is construed in the rrconventionalrt or rrordinary usagert
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Sense.E.(citincrUobi1oiICorP.v.EE,,463r.2d256,259-263
(D.c.Cir.1971),cert'denied,4A6U's'976(1972))'Ashewent
on to explain, section 2-106(1) of ttre unifom coumercial Code

defines sales as the rrtransfer of title for a price' rr Applying

this definition, the AIJ coneluded that there had been a transfer

of title for a price, and that therefore the transactions did not

involve transportation imbalances but were clearly sales' uJ

In these circumstances, h€ found that TGPL had deliberately

used its affiliates to circpmvent the filed-rate requirements of

section 4(d) of the NGA, in order to sell its gas on the spot

market beLow its cost. R' 8422' In sum' the ALI stated:

Treating the companies as ol-e for present
p"=p"""3, 

-it is |tain.that- the pipel-i-l:,::1d
its-system gas to various buyers at varLous
price-s. Ani other conclusion would' ds
Eniorcement points out, allow natural gas
companies broadly to evade the Actrs
="gfrI"tory requiiements by creating
atiitiate-s ana acting through them. In this
case, there was really one natural gas
conpiny making sales in interstate eommerce
tor-reiale. Such sales req'ired certificates
and could oecur only at poited tariff prices.
Insofar as theY did not, there were
violationsofsectionsT(cland4(d)ofthe
Natural Gas Act'

R.8422.

Turning to the issue of d,iscrimination, the AIJ noted that

TGPL had conceded that the discounted sales through rRr and TEI{co

-SJBecauseTGPL,TRI,andTEMCOwereproperlyviewedasonecompany for the purposes of the trlnsactions at issue, the
AIJ conciuOeA tnit i'there was a conventional sale in every
sense of the word: one couPany (the Pipeline) sinply
transfe=="a-iis gas to the LusLomers in exchange for money'rr
R. 8420.
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discriminated against TGPLTs captive

customers (R. 8422-231 . He tlrerefore found ttrat TGPL' had the

burden of proving that the discrinination sa6 not iunduetr within

the meaning of section 4 (b) of the NGA'- R- 8423. Relying on the

D.C. Circuitts UPC decisions, see ggBEe Pp' 10-11' ttre ATJ

obsenred that '[a] distinction between captive and non-captive

customers is inherently suspect, and must be specially and

particularly justified.n R. 8423, 44 FERC at p. 55,055'

EheAI^TrejectedTGPL|seffortstojustifyits
discrinination against its captive customers by showing that the

sales through TRI and TEUCO had aLlowed it to increase its

purchases, thereby bringing cheaper gas into its mix and reducing

the overall cost of gas that captive customers had to pay'

R. A424-25. In the AIJrs view, TGPt had not established that

discriminatory pricing was the only way to achieve the benefits

of lower prices for captive custoDers. R. 8425. In addition,

the AIJ reasoned that it was entirely possible for TGPL to have

achieved sigfnificant reductions in its purchased gas costs

without enbarking on a discriminatory, below-cost sales schene:

After November of 1985, when the sales in
question stopped, the pipelinesr system gas
Costs trent dorrn. The coupany. itself
;;;g"ir"a tn"t during that time it rrwas able
to make some Progress with gas costs over the
winter . . ltloreover ' : ' thePlPeline
it"o failed to show that these rrbenefitsrr
were not canceled out by later returns of
g"t. If the strbsidiariesr sales of TGPL

iysten gai originally freed ttle pipeline to
, slock up on ch6aper gas, their subsequent 

-
returnofgassh.ould-thentravepreventedthe
pip"ii"e tiorn later buying-ctreaper 9as: Th"
eoBPanyuadenoefforttodemonstratethat
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the fotner ssavingstr exceeded the latter
trlosses. r

R. a425; 44 FERC at P. 65 ,O57' Finally' the AI^f also rejected

TGpLt S claim that discriuinatory transactions l{ere necessarlr to

maintain its ttllarl<et Uaintenance Program (nl{UPrt) ' &'/ and

thereby produce reductions in its take-or-pay liability' He

noted that TGPL had not shown that it could not have obtained

similar savings in other uays. IE. AccordinglY, he concluded

that n [t]he company has failed to rebut the presumPtion that

tits]anticompetitivediscriminatorypricingisundue.llR.S426.
2.

the AIJ issued a decision in Phase II'

case. He essentiallY relied on the

testimony of tl,o witnesses presented by the conmissionts

Enforcement section, which had the burden of proof on renedies:

Robert Fulton, a staff accountant, and Gloria Halstead, a staff

auditor. Fultonrs proposal required TGPL to adjust its purchased

gas accounts to reflect the actual cost of the gas returned to

TGPL by TRI and TEMCO, instead of the inflated cost nrecorded" by

On Decenber 15, 1989,

the remedies Ptrase of this

LY TGpLrs Market Maintenance Program.was a cost containment
;;G=;* in which TG,L encouraled its 

. 
producers to grant

;;i;;-;eiier i"-"i"rr"nge for i priority over other producers
in making sales to TGPL. @ tianqggnLinental eas Pipe f ine
A;rp.; g6 rsni r 6+,3?? at 61 ,63s (1?8-?l ' rt was non-
binding upon feif, in tfre sense thad TGPL did not conmit
itr"ii-to- taking any minimum q[uantity-of gas froy
participants in-the-UgP. R. igZZ, Z-gSe, 7962' According to
n&i; iiri= p."gti; ultimatelv collapsed in late 1e8s'
R. 9457.
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TGPL, thereby denying passthrough of the $75 uillion surcharge

claimed by TGPL. g

Halsteadrs proposed remedy allocated refunds of some $zZ

nillion, out of $35 nillion that TGPL had received in

transportation revenues derived from its illegal sa}es, to TGPLTS

captive customers based on the extent to which each customer had

been hamed by TGPLTs undue discrimination. It distributed the

remaining $14 nillion of the $36 uillion to aII TGPL customers on

a gro rata basis, ds an additional rrdisgorgementrt remedy for

TGPLTs filed rate and certificate violations'

In his initial decision on Phase II, the AI^T adopted the

Fulton remedy, which denied TGPL the right to pass through more

than the actual cost of its gas. The AIJ also rejected TGPLTS

argument that this remedy would deny TGPL its right under S 601

of the NGPA 2.W to pass through its purchased gas costs:

W Fulton also Proposed a second, alternative remedy which
vould have alnila TGPL the difference between TGPLTS

estimated trfiled ratem of $3.O1 Dth and its actual higher
cost of tas during the relevant period, later determined to
be approiinatefy $r.lO Dth, for I total of $11.8 million.
R. 8415.

This surcharge pertained only to the actual cost of the
system supply gas-aelivered in the below-cost sa1es, and was
wirolly unilfltea to TGPLts seParate surcharge for the
inflaLed rrecordedrr costs of the replacement gas. Both the
AIJ and tfrl connission detetmined that TGPL was entitled to
pass these costs through tg i!:-]urisdictional customers in
a PGA surcharge, a rullng in TGPLTs favor, which is not at
issue in this aPPeaI.

29/ Absent fraud, abuse or sinilar grounds, section 60L of the
Natural Gas iolicy Act (rtNGPAtr), 15 U'S'C' S 3431'
guarantees pipeli-nes thi right to pass-through the costs of
gas acquired from Producers'



-2L-

Fultonrs remedv tl*ffi;T:t3"'l:: ffi:ti!!.
601 " " 1the
,"" it'" tp"t 'i=r"fp1i""' 

a1l not ttre PGArs

$3 . 01' Far frorn.'aenFng- passtttrough' Fu1ton

,"'iii"'-i[]]atttr.eaEtualcostofgas.
R. g3L2? 49 fERc at p' 65'165' In addition' tlle ALT ordered TGPL

to refund 936 nillion in unlawful transportation revenues' as

proposed bY Halstead'

D.

1.

onSeptember12,lggo,theConmissionissuedanorder
affir:uingtheAlJrsinitialdeciEions.R.gg3S.Tobeginuith,
t}reConmissionrejectedTGPL|scharacterizationofthe
transactions as lttransPortation inbalancesrrt rather tlran sales'

First,itobselrredthatwhileTGPLlstransportationtariff
required TGPL to eliminate all transportation inbalances within

3O days, and while its transportation contracts required that it

make ttrem up as soon as oPerationally practical, the alleged

rrimbalancert TGPL claimed here had lasted 13 months' R' 9944' 52

FERC at p. 5Lr855. Second, it noted that TGPL never advised its

so-called transportation customers that the alleged inbalance

existed. Id. At all events, the conmission reasoned that TGPLTS

claim that the transactions merely resulted in nimbalancesrr t'as

sinplY not credible:
Ratherthanatransportationimbalance,the
triniictions have a1t trre hallmarks of a
sale- The record shows that the Transco

"otoot"ie 
fanity developed and operated IRI

,oi-"iv-ii i venicle to sel1 Transco I s system
supply, as a surrogatS.fgr Transcors discount
sales (Ds) prolrraml which uas never Permitted
to become effective'
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R. gg44i 52 FERC at P' 61'855'

Turning to ttre issue of undue discriuination' the commission

arso found that ttre ArJ had properly relied on'the llPC decisions

as authority for finding undue discrimination' The conmission'

like the AtJ, rejected TGPL|s assertion that the prevai}ing

industry and regulatory circumstances at ttre time of its actions'

or the arreged benefits to its custoBers, justified the

discrimination associated with ttre unauthorized sales TGPL made

throughitsaffiliates.R.gg431.52FERCatp.51,854.

Rather, the comnission obselrred that the industry and regrulatory

circumstances and nbenefitsn invoked by TGPL were Virtually the

same as ttrose involved in the tl[PC decisions and thus did not

warrant a different result' R' gg42-44? 52 FERC at pp' 6L'854-

55.

The commission aLso generally af f irmed the AIJ t s choice of

remedies.

2.

a.onrehearing,TGPLreneweditsclainthattheFulton
remedy denied it passthrough of its actual gas costs in violation

of section GoI of the NcpA. TcpL also objected that the Halstead

remedy, requiring refunds of its transportation revenues, would

improperly distribute refunds to parties that had actually

benefited from the discriminatory saLes'
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On January 15, Lggz, the Conmission issued a rehearing order

reaffirming the Fulton passthrough remedy. 2l/ In the

Coumissionrs view, this remedy accurately reflected the actual

gas costs of TB.I, TEI,[CO, and TGPL as a single entity for the

deliveries and replacement of system supply' R' LO524t 58 FERC

at p. 611050. Ilhe conmission also rejected TGPLTs claim that the

remedy violated the guaranteed passthrough requirenent of s 601

of the NGPA, finding that it did ltnot provide a €Juaranteed

mechanism for a pipeline to seII below cost and then later

recover its costs.tr R. LO527. 58 FERC at P. 611051' Thus, the

Commission concluded that S 601 did not authorize TGPL to pass

through the higher trinflatedtr costs recorded by TGPL, rather than

the actual cost of the replacement gas. R. LO524-25.

The Commission likewise rejected TGPLTs claim that its

noncaptive customersr_ which had purchased almost all of the

trcheapertt gas, suffered no harm from TGPIJTS recording ttre cost of

the replacement gas at trre $ 3.o1 Dth xfiled ratern instead of

its actual cost, approxinately $ 2.4O Dth. The cOrnrnission found

that ttrese customers, as rrell as the captives, had been forced to

subsidize the below-cost sales and thus, rraIl those uho paid

$3.01 per unit for gas that cost less were hatmed by Transcors

actions. ll R. ].0525 n. 48 t 58 FERC at p. 61, 05L n. 48 .

2y By the tiroe this order had issued, TGPL had already
collected $48.5 nillion of the $75 nillion, subject to
refund. The Cornmissionrs orders effectively reguired TGPL

to refund this anount plus interest, ald canceled TGPLTS

right to coltect the rLrnaining $20.5 nillion ($zs miLlion
roinus $48.5 nillion) .

I
t

I
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ontheotherhand,theConmissionfoundthattheregere
equitable considerations that warranted elimination of the

Halstead transportation-revenue remedy, including the proposed

allocation scheme associated with that remedy. The conmission

noted that even though it had found ttrat the relevant narket and

industry circumstances surrounding the transactions at issue in

this case were irrelevant as a defense to TGPLTs liability for

NGA violations, they were entitled to some consideration in

fashioning an appropriate remedy for TGPL'rs undue discrimination'

R. L0528, 58 FERC at P' 61 ,o52'

b. Ncuc and LILCO filed for rehearing of the conmissionrs

retrearing order. NCt C objected to the Connissionrs elinination

of the transportation revenues remedyt LIIJCO protested the

Commissionrs elimination of the Halstead allocation scheme'

originally associated with that remedy, that would have refunded

more than a gre rata share of refunds to parties victinized by

the undue discrimination.

on March 1.5, Lggz, the coumission issued a second order on

rehearing denying both Lltcors and Ncucts rehearing requests'

The commission further explained its decision to eliminate its

requirement that TGPL disgorge the transportation revenues

arising from the unlavful sales as a remedy for undue

discrimination:

[a]round the tirne of the Transco transactions
it-is=ue here the Commission itself had
iuthorized other pipelines to engage in
special marketing programs.that had
aiscrininatory eifects similar to those of
Transcots transactions in this case'

I
t

f

I
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However, in the Mar']rland PeoBletq -C'ounsel

".="tr-ihe 
Court of Appeals-found the

cornnilsion had not adlquately justified the
aisciinit.tiott' Although th- spe-cific. 

-

rt"""""-ti"tt=actions heie do not have the
,"n""i-oi-Couloission authorization, as ttrose
at isiue in the Maryland Peoplers Counsel

""t"=, 
nonetheless, it does not appear^

e+riiiure t9 penalize Transco further for
air"iiri""ii"'" siuilar to that which the
c"rrit=ion itself did not think was undue
ptili-["-tr'"-'"t1ing 9f -th9 court of Appeals
in ihe uarrzland peoplets counsel cases.

R. 1O553-54t 58 FERC at P'6L,927'

FinallyrtheCornnissiondeniedLlLCOtsrequestfora

rearrocation of the Fulton passthrough remedy according to the

allocation method, proposed by Halstead, favoring captive

customers. In the commissionrs view rrfairness and equityrr

required that refunds related to TGPLTs gas costs should be

directed to TGPL customers who overpaid such amounts' R' 10555t

52 FERC at P. 61 ,928. 22/

These aPPeals followed'

22/Theconmissiona}sodeniedaclaimbyNcUcthat.the
-' pioceeaings on reheaSirg before -the cornmission had been

tainted ;i-; ex parte iequest for oral argument' R' L0555

This claii is aiscussed, -iJn:E-B, Pp' 53-57 '
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8T'tdt,tIRY OT ARGT'UEITT

A.

l.TherewasampleevidencesupportingtheCornnissionls

determination that rcpL sold jurisdictional systen supply at

prices below its filed rate and, in soue cases, without a section

7 (c) certificate. The evidence establishes that TGPL' acting as

one company with its marketing affiliates, deliberately sold

systensupplyonthespotmarketandusedproceedsoftheillegal
salestoprepayforreplacementgas,whichitatteuptedtopass
through to its customers at $75 nillion over its actual cost'

Ttre Commission correctLy found that ttrese transactions were

sales, rather than transportation imbalances, because title to

the gas flowed d,irectly from TGPL to Custouers for a price' which

they paid almost simu}taneous}y. .Accordin9lY, the Cornmission

reasonably concluded that TGPL violated the filed-rate

requirements of Section A(d) of the Natural Gas Act by selling

itsgasthroughERlandTEMCoatanunlawfulprice.
The conmission also properly concluded ttrat TGPL unduly

discriminated against its captive customers in violation of

section 4(b) of the NGA. TGPLTs discrj'minatory Programs had

essentially the same features invalidated by the D'c' circuit in

upc I and MPC II. The market conditions and the industry and

regulatory cj-rcumstances that prevailed in early 1985 were

precisely the same facing the D.c. circuit in the uPc I and UPC

!! decisions. The benefits cited by TGPI, as justifying its

discrimination against captive customers Ifere virtually the same
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presented and found unavailing in UPC I and lEg-LE' Because

almost all of the iIIegal sales through TRI and TEI'ICO uere

consummated after these D.C. Circuit decisions'had been issued'

the Commission fairly applied the analysis of MPC I and ti[PC II to

find that TGPL violated Section 4(b) of the NGA'

Z. In these circgmstances, the Co'nrnission properly refused

to permit TGPL to pass through its $75 rnillion surcharge' This

proposed passthrough arose solely from TGPLTs decision to record

the cost of the replacement gas at TGPLts filed rate, $3'01 Dth'

instead of the actual cost of that 9as, $2.4O Dth. TGPLTS

accounting for the replaeement gas in this manner violated the

NGA and Coumissionrs PGA regrulations, which allov a pipeline to

recover no more than its cost of gas. The Conmissionrs denial of

passthrough was consistent with this Courtrs decision in Coastal

oil and Gas corp. v. EEE,, 7A2 F.2d ].24g (5th cir. 1986) since it

linits TGPL to recoupment of its actual gas costs in order to

avoid harm to TGPLTs customers'

3. The Commission also properly rejected TGPLTs argiument

that the passthrough remedy violates section 501 of the NGPA

because, according to TGPL, it does not pemit TGPL to recoup its

losses from the below-cost sales. The NGPA does not grant

pipeline a right to force jurisdictional customers to pay for

strortfalls resulting from discounted sales of gas'

4. The evidence also establishes that the passthrough

reuedy was necessary to avoid hart to TGPLTs custouers' The

replacement gas was contractually cornrnitted to TGPL, and thus
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rcpLrs customers would have eventually received that gas at the

$2.40 price that TGPIJ paid for i.t--$75 ruiLlion less than TGPL

sought to charge then. In the ordinary course of eventE, TGPL

would have made the same prepalments to its producers directl'y,

and acquired the replacement gas at the same savings to its

customers. The conmissionrs denial of passthrough uas also

proper because othertrise TGPLTs customers would be forced to buy

gas at TGPLTS uneconomical filed rate during an off-peak period,

when they were unwilling to buy gas at that price, and when they

had opportunities to buy alternative supplies for substantially

less.
5. TGpLrs asserted benefits to customers from the below-

costs sales are too uncertain and speculative. TGPLTs gas costs

decreased after the period of the unlawful saIes, yet they should

have increased during that period if the below-cost sales were

having the beneficial effect claimed by TGPL. Likewise, TGPLTS

asserted $soo nillion in take-or-pay savings could have been

achieved lawfully by TGPL making prepalments to producers

directly, BS TGPL conceded it could have done'

B.

Contrary to NCuCts arguments, the Conmission explained its

rationale for elirninating its $36 nillion transportation revenue

remedy. As the cornmission stated, its Enforcement section

originally proposed this only as an alternative to the

passthrough remedy which the Conmission ultimately adopted. The

Cornmission also explained that the industry and regulatory
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circqmstances during the relevant period warranted eliuinating

this remedy. Ncucrs argiument that the conmission must impose a

separate remedy for each NGA violation is incorrecti the

conmission possesses remedial discretion to fashion aPproPriate

remedies and is not required to impose a remedy for every ha!'m'

Ngt crs claim that an alleged ex Barte communication tainted

this proceeding is also without merit. The contact at issue here

involved only a request for oral argrtr:nent, which only led to a

procedural result -- an opportunity for all parties to ventilate

their claims at oral argument before the commission' No party

was prejudiced by the reqgest since all parties reseived notice

and actually participated in oral argiunent'

c.

The counission likewise reasonably rejected Lrr,cots request

for reallocation of the passthrough rernedy in a manner that would

favor captive customers. Had the cornmission ruled otherrrise, the

funds needed to satisfy IJILCOTs preferred allocation method would

have come out of refunds to other TGPL customers that paid TGPLTS

overcharges. Ttrere vas no basis for requiring noncaptive

customers to pay captive customers amounts by which the latter

had suffered from undue discrimination. During the period of the

unlawful below-cost sales' noncaptive customers had other low-

cost supply options available to them. Ordering them to give up

part of their refunds vould deprive them of the benefits of these

foregone alternative low-cost supplies. In addition, the

discrimination in this case occurred during a period when captive
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uany different pipelines, excluded frou SMPs'

saDe kind of discrimination without remedy'



I.

3L-

ERGI'I{EIf,I

ITEE COIOTISSION ICTED TEtI.' TIBEITI TEE SCOPE OF IT8 REI'TEDIAI.|

IUBEORfTy fN iltpOSffA l REIIEDY :rEAT LIITMED IrGPL 'l[O A

RECO.IrERY Or I[8 ACTT'AIJ GA8 CO8T8 FOR IT8 VIOLATIOXS OI. IITE

IIATURAIT GAB ACtr'

A. Tbe conDissioDts DelerEiDBtio!' TlaI TGPI.|viorated rhe
Natural cas Act Is 8u@d By Eubstantia1 gviaence'

l.a.ThereisnodisputethattheTGPI,corporatefamily

intentionarly sold jurisdictional system supply gas to non-

captive customers at Prices below its filed rate' R' 284L'

There is likewise ample support in the record for the

comnissionts determination that TGPL, TRI, and TEI{co acted as a

ilsingle-entityrr for purposes of effecting these below-cost sales

of systen supply and the purchases of replacement gas' see 8420-

22.D/Infact,thecompositionoftheTGPL'TRI'andTEttlCO
eorporate hi.erarchies Yras nearly identical. As the AIJ pointed

out in his initial decisi'on on Phase I:

All of TRIrs officers were also TGPL

"iii""tt. 
six of TEMCots seven directors

were also on [TGPLrs] board' The board

"friir-.t 
ana ifrief eiecutive officer of TEI{co

"ta ITGPL] were the same' With one

"r""pii"", 
all TEMCO officers were also TGPL

officers Each subsidiary.had the
same address as that of the pipeline'

ryAstheAlJfound,theonecompanyapproachUasequallyapplicabG i" the return o1 tire gas- Ly tnr and TEMC. because

ttlhe purchases of the lower priced spot
market gas were inextricably linked to the
iffegif-sales' The very proceeds of the
i116;i sales were used to prepay for the
spot-marketgasonavirtuallysirnultaneous
basis.

R. 9309i 49 FERC at P' 65'163'
I

t

{
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R. t.42O-2Li 44 FERC at p. 551055' El also page 16' '$EEB'

As the AIJ carefuLly aqtlained, ttre transactions at issue in

the instant case were f,salesrr uithin ttre plain; everyday meaning

of ttrat term. As he correctly found, TGPL and its affiliates

acted as ilone company.r R. B42O-2L| 44 FERC at p. 651054' lfhey

transferred TGPLTs system supply for a pr5'ce' R' 842v-22', 44 FERC

at Pp. 65,054-55. In addition, the transactions between TGPI, and

its noncaptive customers were complete uPon delivery of the gas

and palment of the purchase price' which vas virtually

simultaneous. R. 3373i see also 38 FERC at p' 65'L57' Following

deliver:r and palment, these customers did not owe TGPI, any money

or any gas. R. 3373-74. Moreover, it is uncontested that title

tothesystemsupplygasTGPI,soldbelow-costpasseddirectly
from TGPL to TRI I s and EEIIICO t s customers ' not through these

affiliates. R. 3372. In these circrrmstanees, the connission

proper}y rejected TGPI,ls assertion that its transactions were

merely Ittransportation inbalaneesrr rattrer than below-filed rate

sales.

Inthefirstplace,transportationinbalancesbytheir
nature are usually accidental and therefore do not need

conmission authorization. see R. 3zg}-g:-. In contrast' this

imbalancetasdeliberate'R'3269'second'Transcors
transportation tariff required elirnination of imbalances in 3O

days, and its transportation contracts required ttrat they be made

upassoonasUasoperationallypractical.R.32gg.Thealleged
llimba}ancertinthisproceedingran13months.R.TS3S.The
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alleged inbalance was, moreover, extraordinary; 2g indeed,

TcpL,s own witness, H.J. uirrer adnitted that it was the rargest

he had seen with the company or in the industry' R' 3316' 2E/

Furthemore, and of particular signif icance, TGPL I s

Itransportation customersrt would have been financially

accountable for and thus entitled to know about imbalances' Yet'

never informed them that the inbalances even existed' R'

25/

Thus, the evidence completely refutes TGPLTs attenpt to

brush off its patently illegal sales activity under the rubric of

rtransportation inbalancgs.rr In sun, the commission correctly

TGPL

3298.

w

El

z_il

Furthermore, the replacement ga9, which was eventually used
to correct the rrimbalancesrtt f,ad not even been produced at
the time that the alleged irabalances were allowed to grow,
and Miller testified that never before had TGPL experienced
iri*b"1"rrcesrr associated with gas that had not yet been
produced. R. 332L.

iliIler conceded that the irnbalances lasted longer than
nornat imbalances, R. 33L7, were unusllal in scope and
dimension and size, and exceeded anything he _had.3v:r seen

before. R. 330i, i:15, 33L7. Ittr. Uil1er added that the gas

subject to tne-ii:.eg"d'irb"lances accounted for over half of
rCpL'= systen supply during.a pef+9d.when TGPL was

overstocled with- Lxless deliverability. R. 332L.

TGPL's claim (TGPL Br. 16) that the first AIJ who heard this
case found ttrit substantial evidence supported a

a"i"r i"ation that the transactions involved here were
I;;;;;;;iiii"" imbalances, as opposef to sares' is
misleading. That ALT clearly fLft the^question whether the
transactions were sales or iibalances for the Cornmission to
deci.de.3ErERcatp.65,L64.Acarefulreadingofthe
Al^T, s ranguagE- reveai= that the AIJ I s co ment about
substantial evidence dealt only with I9PL's Account No' 191

;J;;;;;-i.;:; the cost suppoit for rGPL's p5oposed pass-
tf,ro"gn--inEe event that Lhe Cornrnission ultiroately
determined the transactions were deternined to be
t;;;;;;iitiott imbalances, and not sares' rd'
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determined that rsalesrt involved here were not trtransportation

inbalanc€s.r See also United Gas Improvement Co. v. Continental

Oil Co., 381 U.S. 3g2 (1985) (ruling that a transaction is a

jurisdictional sale if its economic effect is sinilar to that of

a sale and if failure to designate the transaction as a sale

would permit circumvention of the Act) '
b. Nor, as petitioner claims (TGPL Br. 41-48), does the

Cornmissionrs decision in Granite State Transmission Inc., 47 FERC

1 6Lr42g (1989) support a contrary conclusion. The imbalances

involved in Granite State ulere a far cry from the thinly

disguised sales of system supply at issue here. In Granite

State, two different tlpes of inbalances had actually developed.

One tlpe of inbalance involved deliveries of spot market supplies

to Granite State, as purchaser, by Tennessee Gas Pipe Line

Company (ttTennesseer), aS transporter. Tennessee, in tUrn, had

operating difficulties that caused it to under-deliver volumes

destined for Granite State. The second tlpe of inbalance

resulted from Granite Statets deliberate overpurchase of gfas

supplies from an entirely different source, shell canada Ltd.,

and Granite StaterE reliance on these excess supplies in its own

pipeline to serve as a substitute for acquiring storage

facilities to roeet unanticipated needs and avoid imbalance

penalties. The commission recognized ttrese situations as

imbalances, but refused to allow costs to be passed through to

Granite Staters customers until the irnbalances were corrected,
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of the gas.
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staters customers actually received delivery

The so-called irnbalances in this case reSenble neither of

the inbalances recognized in Granite state. Here, TGPL actually

delivered gas and received palment in fuII fron its customers,

and thus no inbalance between TGPL and its customers lfas ever

created. In contrast, in Granite state, Do g[as was delivered to,

and no palment was received from, Granite staters customers

during the period of imbalances. iloreover, in this case, unlike

Granite State, the accounting issues did not relate to any

operating difficulties of a transporter, or the storage needs of

a pipeline, but arise from a deliberate scheue by TGPL to

increase its sales of systen supply gas and its transportation

revenues, and an attempt to foree its on-systen custoners to

subsidize its below-cost saIes.

Finally, as the Commission correctly recognized, in Granite

State, there was no finding that the pipeline delivered gas to

its customers in violation of its filed rate, and there were no

violations of rrcertificaterr authorization through deliveries of

system supply to off-system customers. lIoreover, no Granite

State customer was forced to subsidize the imbalances at issue-

R. 105L7, 58 FERC at P- 6L,O47.

2. Likewise well-founded are the conclusions reached both

by the AIJ and the commission that TGPLTs below-cost sales were

unduly discrininatory and that TGPL had not carried its burden of

justifying its discrimination against captive customers. As the
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evidence strowed, TGpr, proceeded with its discriminatory programs

sith fuI} knowledge of the D.c. circuitrs serious doubts'

exllressed in uPc I and UPgLf, about the legallty of

discrimination against eaptive custo,ers. zu rhe market

conditions and the industry circr:mstances at the time of TGPLTS

sales were ttre same that existed at the time of the uPc I and [!1]

Ef decisions. The benefits cited by TGPl--reduction in take-or-

pay liability and overall cheaper gas--were the same presented

and found unavailing by the D.c. circuit in those decisions'

The commission therefore fairly applied the same rrundue

discriminationn analysis performed by the D.c. circuit in uPgE

and MPC II to the transactions at issue' Because TGPL had failed

to show that the alleged benefits to captive customers flowing

from these transactions could not have been achieved through less

discriminatory means, the conmission reasonably detemined that

TGPL violated NGA S 4(b) by unduly discriminating against its

captive customers. R. 7963' 29J

2y Even though a small number of TRI below-cost transactions
may have preaalla tfr" MPC I and trtPC II -deeisions, TGPL and

its corporate parent made i conscious decision to proceed
with these tra-"="&ions in fuII force even after the
decisions uere issued. see R. 3270, 7824. And all of the
illegal sales thiougfr TEI'ICO were consuumated after those
decisions.

Tepl,rs violations of section 7(c) "M" 
NGA are not at

issue in this ipp""r. TGpL does'not dispute.that some of
its systen ="ppii-ras sold to customers off its system

without corni-"-=i'on authorizaiion to sel1 gds r in violation
of section Trcl-oi the NGA. see TGPL Br. L2 n.10. As TGPL

acknowledgesr-lt nhas not challenged this aspect of the
Cornmission t s order. rr 3!.

?3/
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B. [be CoumlasLontg Pass-Throuoh Remedv, Linitlag TGPL To
Itg lctual Cost Of 8eryice, Ig TeIl fitLia Iba
Couuiasioar g Etatutorv lutboritv

The Conmissionrs refusal to permit pass-through of TGPLTS

surcharge was also proper. There is no dispute that TGPL charged

its customers $3.01 per Dth for gas that cost its affiliates

considerably less. As previously shownr 899, note 14, .ggEB,

TGPL, through TRI and TEIIICO, paid an average of $2.55 and $2.23

per Dth, respectively, or an average of roughly $z-40 per Dth,

for the replacement gas. Moreover, it is undisputed that when

TRI and TEII{CO returned this gas at no cost to TGPL, TGPL then

sought to recover the eguivalent of its filed rate, $3.O1 per

Dth, for this gas from its jurisdictional customers through its

PGA account. ft is likewise uncontested that TGPLTS proposed

passthrough arose solely because of the difference between the

inflated rrrecordedrr cost of the replacement gas and its actual

cost. In ttrese eircumstances, the Commission was amply justified

in denying TGPLTs passthrough to the actual cost of its gas.

Indeed, the NGA and Commission regulations require no less.

The NGA, case law, and the Conmissionrs PGA regulations are based

on the cost of senrice methodology. See @ v. E!1],

23O F.2d 81O (1955), cert. denied t 352 u.s. 829 (L956) i cf,.

Famers Union Central Exchange v. EE&, 734 I..2d 1485, 1503 (D.C.

Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1034 (1934). Section 4(e) of

the NGA and the Cornmissionts PGA regulations require the refund

of rates that are not just and reasonable where, dS here, they

were collected subject to refund. See note 3, suDra. Indeed,
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the Commissionrs PGA regUlations have always specified that

natural gas comPanies may recover no more than their cost of gas'

See18crRS154.38(d)(4)rgLocust,RidgeGasCo"34rERcI
G1r3L1 (1986); rehearincr denied, 35 FERC I 6L,2L5 (1986) (hoLding

that the filed rate doctrine precludes pipelines, which

deliberately sell gas below their filed rate, from collecting any

ensuing underrecovery of costs through subsequent PGA

surchargres). TGPLTs actions in this case contravened all of

these provisions. Therefore, the Commission was justified in

invoking the fuII panoply of its statutory authority, including

the tfnecessary or appropriatetr clause of section 16 0f the NGA'

15 U.S.C. S 717o, to linit fGPLrs passttrrough to the actual cost

ofthereplacementgas.&ilf.&rV'FERC,545F'2d339'353
(sth cir. 1981) i Mesa Petroleum Co. v. EBg, 441 F.zd L82, 189

(5th Cir. 1971)

By recording an inflated cost for the replacement gas, TGPL

effectively surcharged its jurisdictional customers for a

deficiency in revenues resulting from previous sales of

underpriced g3s, a practice prohibited under Locust Ridge,

supra. 23/

zgJ Although the AIJ found that the Locust Ridge principles did
not affora--i Uisis for denying passthrough of TGPLTs actual-
gas costs, see R. ??05, 49 FERC-at P' 65rL62'-this
discussi;; C confined to the separate lawfur surcharge for
the actuai cost of the gas deliveied in the belon-cost sales
(gff.e ,iifion), and, nof the surcharge at issue here related
to the replacement gas' See note L9 ' suDra'

I

t

i

I

I
I
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c. The copplBsioDre Remedv Ie coDsiEteDt xitb Th18 eourtrs
Dacisioa Iu Coastal'

Finally, contrary to TGPLTs claim (TGPL Br' 241 ' the

conmissionrs denial-of-passthrough remedy does not lrrn afoul of

this courtrs decision in coastal oil and Gas cor?,. v. EEBq, 782

F.2d t249 (5th Cir. 1985) (tt€g$jHttt) or any other precedent

dealing with the commissionts remedial authority. rn @Gt,

this Court nrled that the Cornmission lacked authority under the

NGA to impose a remedy that mpenalizesrr a pipeline for unlauful

action. As ttris court explained in that case, Part of the refund

the commission imposed there was tantamount to a penalty because

it exceeded the injury to the pipeliners interstate customers and

denied the pipeline ,,any paynent whatsoever for the gas including

recoupment of @.n, i&- at 1213 (emphasis added) . Ttte

Conrnissionrs action in this case presents exactly the opposite

situation since it liuits TGPt to recoupment of its actual gas

costs in order to avoid harm to TGPLTs custotuers. 3-9/ The

Conmissionrs reuedy therefore fully comports with the principles

this Court articulated in Coastal'

D.
llerit-

TGPL raises

findings in this
a variety of claims

case. As exPlained

challenging the Comrnissionr s

beIow, none has substance.

3-ry'TGPLargiues(TGPLBr.28)thatth?.commission|spassthrough:z i"r"av-i=-irpi"per because, according to T9pr,, it did not
pr"fit fiorn tfre'ittegat saies. However, it was the ha::m to
TGpLrs "rrilor".=, 

not tepl's enrichment, that was the focus
of the Commissionrs remedY'
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TcpL claims (TGpL Br. 42-43) that the conmissionrs remedy

violates Section 601 of the NGPA, whicb gruarantees pipelines

recovery of their actual gas costs, because, according to TGPt,

the remedy denies recovery of TGPLts gas costs' The Comnission

properly rejected this claim. 3L/ since ttre conmissionrs

remedy allows TGPL to recover its actual gas costs, both for the

gas it illegalIy sold g4 for the gas it purchased to replace it,

the remedy fully comports with Section 601. (Tr. 22301

Indeed, TGpL does not dispute the Cornmissionts finding that

its remedy per:mits TGPL to include all of its or its aff iliates I

actual gas costs in its PGA to the extent those costs relate to

both the illegally sold and replacement gas. See TGPL Br' at 42-

43. Rather, TGPLTs main objection is that the Commissionrs

analysis of the proPer remedy does not take into account TGPLTS

revenuesr -L,-s-r losses from the below-cost sales, and is flased

because TGPL has sustained a shortfall of $75 nillion wtren its

gas costs are compared to its revenues from its below-cost sales.

These argnrments are unavailing'

1.

w Although TGPL (TGPL Br. aE 42) cites Passages from the
initial decisions recognizing'that the NGPA does not perrnit
the commission to deny recovery of actual gas costs even
when g"=--rr"equently- is put t" ?l improper usg, this
discussi"" p"t€"ined only to whetler TGPL should be denied
recovery-"r-i"-iaaiiio".i $11.8 rnilrion based sorery on it:
underestinitionlffiEtuaIgascosts.Asnoted,gnote
L9, ="Ea;-irr" corrission allowed TGPL to recover ttrese
costs, .i& irri= issue is no longer relevant to this case'

f

r
+

!
f
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I
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NGPA confers upon pipelines a right to

pass through their gas costs incurred through atms-lengfth

dealings with producers; but nothing in 5 601 of the NGPA or its

legislative history addresses the unusual event in whichr is

here, a pipeline deliberately chooses ng! to exercise the right

to sell the gas at its cost. Similar1y, nothing in S 601

suggests that it was intended to serrre as a vehicle by which

pipelines could force their customers into subsidizing below-cost

sa1es. In short, the Cornnissionrs dete:mination that Section 601

of the NGpA does not grant pipelines a right to force customers

to pay for shortfalls resulting fron below-cost sales was clearly

reasonable, and therefore is entitled to deference. See Office

of Consumersr Counsel v. EEBQ, 783 F.zd 206, 2Lg (D-C- Cir.

le85) .

In this regard, the Comrnissionrs interpretation of S 501 is

also supported by the testimony of TGPLTs otln witness, Jaek

Kaminsky. Mr. Kaninslqr conceded that the cornrnissionts PGA

regulations al1ou only the inclusion of costs, and not the effect

of revenues, in calculating a pipeliners Aecount No. 191 balance.

See R. 2OZL, 2L53. I{r. Kaminsky further explained that, under

the Conmissionrs PGA regulations, if TGPL sold its gas below its

filed rate it would not be entitled to recover the difference

between the filed rate and the lower price it received for that

gas. R. 2L53, 2L56t 2LgL-95, See also Locust Ridcre Gas Co., 34

3ERC 1 6Lr311 (L986) i rehearing denied, 35 FERC I 6L,2L5 (1986).

The Commission therefore correctly declined to consider the
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from TGPLTs below-cost sales- See LO524-25,

2. TGpLrs Clalp That The ConmissioD Eas Not thor'D
That Ite custoners rere Eelmed Bv lte lbove-cost
Eurcharoee Is fithout lderit.

d. TGPLts suggestion (TGPI, Br' 28-371 that the

Conmissionrs passthrough remedy is improper because customers on

its system-- captive and noncaptives--were not hatmed and

actually benefited from its unlawful actions is entirely

unsupported.

TGPL suggests (TGPL Br. 27-33) that the Connissionts remedy

is inequitable because its customers would not be unfairly hatmed

by the $25 rnillion passthrough. In its ltords f,the transactions

[were] vash for the sales customersrr since tgas is a fungible

commodityr . molecules are traded for moleculesr: wAcoc out,

wAcoc in.l' (Br. 15). on the other hand TGPLTS ar€Jues that, as a

result of the Cornmissionrs remedy, TGPL wil} unfairly be forced

to underrecover $75 nillion it spent for gas during the period at

issue here (TGPL Br. 23, 43). These claims have no merit'

TGPLTs assertions overlook a critical fact about the

replacement gas sold to TGPLTs customers at the inflated recorded

costs TGpLrs customers would have eventually received that gas at

the roughly $2.40 price that TGPL paid for it, regardless of

whether TGPL ever made the illegal below-cost sales.

Significantly, TGPL was under a contractual obligation to

purchase the so-cal}ed replacenent gas that it bought frou its

producers. While TGPLTs contracts obligated it to pay $ff-$fa
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per DEh for that gisr no pipeline was buying gas at those IeveIs.

Instead, such high-cost contracts were being renegotiated as

pipelines sought to miniuize their potential liability for
impnrdent gas purchasing practices.

That is what happened here. TGPt renegotiated these

contracts and purchased this gas at an average of $2.40 Dth.

TGPLTs customers were owed the benefit of these price reductions.

Instead of passing this low cost through to them, TGPL attempted

to overstate the cost of this gas by $ZS tuittion. TGPLts actions

therefore deprived its customers of the benefit of the low cost,

to which they would have been entitled absent TGPL,rs illegal
activity. The Connission properly refused to countenance such

action and iuposed a remedy which returned the parties to the

position they sould have occupied absent TGPLTs illegal aetivity.
The Commission likewise properly refused to permit TGPL to

force its on-system customers to pay more than the cost of the

replacement gas to offset TGPLTS below-cost sales through TRI and

TEIr{CO. TGPLTs failure to collect revenues sufficient to recover

the actual cost of the gas sold through TRI and TElt{CO was solely

the result of its own deliberate decision to price its gas $75

nillion below its filed rate. If the Conmission had subsequently

required TGPLTs customers to pay for this revenue deficiency--as

32/ TGPLTs President adnitted that TGPL could have made the same
prepa)ments to the same high-cost gas producers directly,
ind thereby achieved the same take-or-pay savings without
selling gas below cost. R. 2823. In addition, the record
establishes that after TGPL terminated its below-cost sales
program, its average purchased gas costs steadily deelined
from roughly $3.30 to $2.09 per Dth by May 1985. R. 7839.

32/
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TGPL contends it should have--the customers vould have been

forced against their will into ttre same financial position they

would have occupied had they purchased the quantities through

TEI.ICO and TRI at TGPLTs filed rate. Given the supply and demand

conditions from April through November 1985, however, these

customers had no interest in, and courd readily have avoided,

purchasing that gas at the filed rate during April-November 1985'

Manifestly, TGPLts customers should not be forced to Pay a price

-- ttre additional $75 nilli'on surcharge--that they could have

avoided when they made their gas purchases'

b.NoristhereanymerittoTGPl,|sclaimthatits
customers--both captives and non-captives--actua1ly benefited

from these transactions because some of the gas TGPL offered in

its below-cost sales was purchased by the same on-system

customers wlro are subject to TGPLTs surchargle' In the first

place, TGPLTs captive customers were not pemitted to buy anv of

g

3y This was a period of warmer weather, normally an off-peak'
tow demana ierioa ror lipeline sales. TGPLTs witness, H'J'
Miller, I"=tir:-"d that there was no market for the
quantitiessoldthroughTRIandTEMCOatTGPL|sfiledrate.
R. 7826-27.
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the lower-priced TEI.ICO gdsr 3l/ and were pelrBitted to Purchase

only a tiny fraction of the ERI supplies' 2g

TGPLT6 noncaptive customers likewise received no benefits

from the lower-priced TEI.ICO supplies because they had

opportunities to achieve savings from alternative suppliers that

vere armost as valuabre as the discounts they received from

TE!{co. $4 R. 2634. ?s/ Likewise, noncaPtive customers who

purchased from TRI did not significantly benefit fron TGPLTS

belou-cost sales service. These customers had other supply

options as weII. See R. 2480-81 , 3275, 32'19'

In sum, TGPLTs Claim that its captive and non-captive

customers benefited from its below-cost sales is patently

spurious.

2!/

35/

TEl.tco gdsr which aceounted for roughly,half of TGPLTS below-
cost systen supp:-y volumes, was offered-tO TGPLTs customers
only o-n . ttsail^s irondisplacement basis,rr which meant that
TGpL would refuse to trlnsport this gas on behalf of any
customer whose purchase of TEllco gas would displac: a

furchase of TGpi system supply at its regular fi_l_ed rate. R'
5;;L:- Captive cusLomers, irnose purchase fron TEI{co would
displace a purchase of TGPL systero -suPPIy, wgrg- thus barred
;ffi-;;;"n"!i"g iow-cost, r3l,tc6 sas ueLluie of this policv'

captive customers of TGPL hlere permitted to buy only 3t of
their contract entitlement, and, in fact, they purchased
;it-0.38t of TRI volumes above this 38 1evel, due to
restrictive conaitiott= imposed upon them by TGPLTs threshold
leve1s Program.

TGpLrs own witness, H.,r. Mil1er, conceded that the
difference ueiween'making a sale and not naking a sale in
6;-il;"titir" markets ienred by TEMCo was no more than a
penny PLr Dth. 9ee R. 372, 10065'

1g
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3. Ecplrrs ClaLE lhat The ConlLssior=Balled To I{rke
Iuto lceouut Other Alleoed Benefits Eo Clrstouers
FlovLaE Fron The Belor-Cost Sa1es l'tugt Algo Be
Reieeted.

TGpt next claims (TGPL Br. 37-39", that it presented evidence

of other nsignificant benefitsrr to TGPLTs customers from the

illegal sales and couplains that these asserted benefits were

igrnored by the Commission. For examFle, TGPL asserts (TGPL Br.

12 n.17) that the TRIts and TEItlCOrs prepalments to SheII Oil and

other high cost gas producers during the summer of 1985 enabled

TGPL to avoid $SOO nillion in take-or-Pay liability. TGPL also

asserts (id.) that the higher volumes taken from producers by

TGPL and its affiliates saved its customers $36 nillion because

TGPL would other:trise have had in its mix a higher percentage of

expensive rmust-takerr gdsr i.e., gas that the pipeline had to

take to avoid take-or-pay liability. 3U In both its order

affiming the initial decisions and its first rehearing order,

the Comnission properly considered and rejected these

allegations, finding that the AIJ had adequately ansvered then in

his initial decisions. The Conmissionrs rmlings uere correct.

As the AIJ explained, TGPLTs alleged benefits rrere too

uncertain and speculative. In his initial decision (Phase I),

the AIJ obserrred that after November 1985, when TGPLTS below-cost

sales ceased the pipelinesrs system gas costs went down, not up,

as would be expected if TGPLts illegal sales activities uere

ilJ TGPIJ also asserts (TGPL BT, L7 n.17) benefits in the foru of
953 nillion in savings to its customers as a result of
prepaying its producers for gas through TRI and TEllCO. We

frave ifreaay answered this c1aim, .SlfEE.r p' 42-44'
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having the trcost savingsrr effect claimed by TGPL. R. 3115, 8425.

In addition, TGPLTs vitness acknowledged that TGPL vas able to

successfully renegotiate high cost gas contracts after the

illegal sales activity ceased. R- 3115-

Moreover, as the AIJ also obserirred, the so-called benefits

arising from the belou-cost sales were likely canceled out by the

later return of the gas. Although TGPLTs gas costs declined

after the sales had ended, the AIJ correctly reasoned that TGPL

had failed to show that whatever rrbenefitstt t ere achieved during

the period of the illegal sales were not canceled out by later

returns of gas. R. 8425. As he expLained:

If the subsidiariesr sales of TGPIi systen gas
originally freed the pipeline to stock uP on
cheaper 93sr their subsequent return of gas
should then have prevented the pipeline fron
later buying cheaper glas. The comPany made
no effort to demonstrate that the former
nsavingstr exceeded the latter rlosses.n

fd. 44 FERC at P. 55,057. 33./

The AIJ also found that the TGPL had not shown that its

illegal sales seheme conferred any benefits that could not have

been achieved }ega}ly. R. 8425. Ttrus, although TGPLTS

president, Oavid J. lt[ackie, asserted that TGPL saved $5OO million

in take-or-pay liability by its affiliatesr prepalments, he

nonetheless admitted that TGPL could have made its prepalments

33/ T6PLrs witness, Mil1er, conceded that during the 1985-1986
winter heating season (when gas costs uere declining) TGPLTS
gas purchases were reduced below a level which it would
5tfre-rnrise have maintained but for its receipt of the
replacement gas over a five-month period ending in April
1986. R. 3114-16.
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directly to Shell oil and other high-cost gas producers for
additional supplies of gas, without going through affiliates, and

thereby achieved the same take-or-pay savings without engaging in
its elaborate sale-and-repurchase scheme. R. 2823. Indeed, the

corporate fanily would have had more money available to make the

prepalments because it would not have been buying gas (at around

$3.30 Dth) and then selling it at a loss (at an average of $2.40

Dth), ES it did here in order to market its system supply gas

through IRI and TE![CO. 39J

l. TGPLTg otber objectioas ![o The Copniggioars
a

a. TGPL also claims (TGPL Br. 321 that this case rris not

about remedying TGPLts violations of the PGA procedurestr because,

according to TGPL, the AIJ and the Conmission found that TGPL

rrproperly calculated its PGA during the tine periods relevant to
this case. rr This claim, too, is erroneous. Neither the

Coumission nor the ALJ ever found that TGPL calculated its PGA

balances correctly with respect to the actual cost of the

39J TGPL complains (TGPL Br. 37-39) that the Cornmission
improperly shifted the burden of proof on remedies to TGPL
by requiring TGPL to show that it could not have achieved
the these asserted benefits through other means. In fact,
the Cornnissionts Enforcement Section carried its burden of
proof , see pages 14-15, 23r EllP.EElr by showing that TGPLts
customers Here haraed by being charged $3.01 per Dth for gas
that cost approximately 92.40 Dth.

At that point, the burden of pEedgci:1g evidence shifted
to TGPL to demonstrate that. its alleged benefits outweighed
the hatm caused by its overcharges associated with the
return !tas. It failed to satisfy this burden because, &s
shown above, its evj-dence of trbenefitstt was ambigruous and
inconclusive. R. 93L2-13.
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replacement gas. Just to the contrary, the AIJ and the

eonmission both rlled that TGPL improperly calculated its
purchased gas costs by ineluding the inflated restimatedrr $3.O1

Dth cost of the replacement gas, instead of the lower actual

costs, in its PGA. E R. 93L2? 49 FERC at P. 65 rL64-65- N,./

b. TGPIJ also inplies (TGPL Br. 6-7) that the Conmission

is to blaue for TGPLTs actions in this case, because of the

Cornmissionrs elimination of minimum cornrnodity bil1s and its
failure to alleviate the take-or-pay problems facing pipelines in

the nid-1980s. But unresolved status of take-or-Pay issues was

no excuse for TGPLts decision to take the law into its own hands,

and to engage in self-help outside the NGA. As we have e:qllained

earlier, (supra, dt Pages 7-8, 42-43) TGPL had other--Iegitimate-

-ways to reduce its take-or-PErY liability. In any event, as the

supreme Court has recognized in the take-or-Pay context:

[A]n agency need not solve every
problen before it in the same

40/ TGPL's assertion that the Cornmission and the AIJ both found
that TGPL properly calculated its PGA relates to the
entirely sLparate guestion whether TGPL should be denied
recovery of some additional $ff.8 nillion in actual gas
costs because TGPL underestimated those costs during the
period of the illegal saIes. See 49 FERC at p. 55,L6L-62i
58 FERC at P. 5Lr050, n.44. See also note L9, supra. The
first part of lltr. Fultonrs proposed remedy, which has not
adopted by either the AIJ or the commission, would have
denied TGPL the right to recover the $ LL.8 nillion, the
difference between the filed rate of S 3.01 Dth that was in
effect from April through Septernber L985 and its higher
actual cost during that Period.

This matter has no bearing here because the Commission
ruled that, by virtue of S 601 of the NGPA, TGPL could not
be denied passthrough of the $ 1L.8 million, a ruling in
TGPLTs favor that no other party has appealed.
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proceeding. This applies even
where the initial solution to one
problem has adverse consequences
for another area that the agency
was addressing.

Uobil Oil Exoloration & Producing Southeast v. United

Distribution Conpanies, 111 S. Ct. 515, 627 (1991). $€, also

Vemont Yankee Nuclear Porrer Corp. v. Natural Resources Defense

council, 435 U.S. 519, 543-44 (1978).

II. IDEE CI/n,fUg OF TEE REl,lAIltING PETIIIONERA -- BASICALLI IIAXING
TEE ESEERAION TEAT TEE REI,IEDT TASEIOITED BY EEE COI{ITISSIOIT
f,As IIT8I'FBICTENE -- ERE TITEOUT llERIA

A. NCUC Errs In Its Claiu That The Counissiontg Remedy IIas
Inadecnrate In The Circumstances of ![hig Case.

1. NCIC initially argrnes that the Commissionrs reasons for

eliminating this additional remedy were insufficiently vague and

unfocused. (NCUC Br. 14) Ngt C also suggests that it was

improper for the Commission to have taken into account the

relevant market and industry circumstances in its consideration

of remedies. (NCUC Br. 2O.,

The Conmissionrs reasoning for eliminating this remedy was

two-fold. First, the Coumissionts Enforcement Section proposed

the remedy as a stand-alone alternative to the $75 million gas

cost remedy, to be adopted in the event the Conmission declined

to impose the gas cost remedy. Since the Enforcement Section had

not proposed both remedies, the Commission took this factor into

account when it reconsidered the remedy and eliminated it.

Second, the Commission properly assessed the relevant market and

industry circumstances surrounding feflrs discrirninatory

practices. As the Cornmission recognized in its March 16, 7-992
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order, this case followed closely on the heels of several sMPs

containing siroilar features that were approved by the Commission

on an e:<perimental basis. Accordingly, the Cornmission reasonably

concluded that

it does not appear to be equitable to
penalize transco further for discrimination-sinitar to that which the Conmission itself
did not think was undue prior to the ruling
of the court of appeals in the Marvland
Peonlers Counsel cases.

R. 10554, 58 FERC at p. 51 1927 - Second, even though TGPL

embarked upon its program at a time when the D.C. Circuit had

already cast serious doubt on the legality of SMPs, the Court had

not declared this type of discriuination iIIegaI per E, and, in

the Marazland Peoptes counsel v. EEIRC, 758 F.2d 45O (D.C. Cir.

1985) (IIIPC ffl), issued on Augrust 6, 1985, it allowed the

experj.mental program to die a natural death more than two months

later on the Commissionrs preestablished rrsunset daterrr October

31, 1985, rather than invalidate the program iurmediately. 4L/

2. NCUC also claims that the Cornmission was fully aware of

these circumstances when it affimed the transportation-revenue

remedy in its Septenber L2, 1990 order, and that it offered no

new rationale to explain its change in position. (NCUC Br. L4,

26.) NCUC overlooks the fact, however, that the Cornmission

allowed the parties an additional rssund of supplemental briefing

and also heard extensive oral argument on the guestion of

4]./ Thus, during this tirne period, captive customers of all
pipeiines witf, SMPs had been routinely experiencing this
torrn of discrimination, without apparent remedy'
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remedies. The purpose of the statutory rehearing procedure under

the NGA is to give the Cornmission an opportunity to take a fresh

look at the issues presented or overlooked in its prior orderr €ts

well as any new issues raised by that orderi and, as noted at

p. 23-ZSr .SEE, the Cornmission has fully explained its reasoning

for its change in position in its order on rehearing. 42/

3. Finally, NCUC claims that when the cornmission finds

statutory violations causing injury to natural gas consumers, the

Conmission has an affitmative duty to impose a remedy for each

violation. (NCUC Br. 22). There is no merit to this claim.

This argument was raised and rejected recently by the D.C.

Circuit in v. EEE, 955

F.zd 67, 72-73 (D.C. Cir. L9921, decided under the parallel

provisions of the Federal Power Act. As that Court e:<plained:

Invoking ubi ius, ubi remedium--for every
right a remedy--the Towns argrue that the
conrnission is deprived of remedial discretion

. . This is good advocacy but the case
cannot be decided on any such theory. . . .
The Towns possess only the trightsr the
Federal Power Act confers, no Dore, Do less

. The Federal Power Act does not explic-
itly deprive the Cornmission of remedial dis-
cretion with respect to refundsi in fact, the
Aet quite clearly confers it.

42/ NCUCTs assertion (NCUC Br. L7) that there is no support for
the Commissionrs finding that its gas cost remedy already
included a remedy for undue discrimination is also
insubstantial. Just to the contrary, the gas cost remedy
elininates the najor harn associated with the undue
discrimination against captive customers, i.e., TGPLTs
atternpt to reguire captive customers to cross-subsidize the
below-cost sales to its favored customers.

I

I
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9ss F.2d at 73. El
In this context, NCtCts reliance on Atlantic Refining Co' v'

Pnblic Senrice Conmission, 350 U.S. 378 (1959) (CATCO), is

misplaced. cATco was not concerned with the scope of the

conmissionrs remedial discretion. Instead, the focus in CATCO

Ifas on the insufficiency of the evidence supporting a Federal

power cornmission finding of public convenience and necessity

relating to that Commissionts issuance of permanent certificates

under NGA S 7(c). Public Senrice Commission v' EP!3, 543 F'zd 757

(D.C. Cir. Lg74l, on which NCUC also relies, likevise does not

support its position. In that case, the court sinply ruled that

the Federal power Commission had applied the wrong criteria in

measuring the amount, and in detemining the timing of , producer

refunds. W
B.

1. Following a non-public investigation by the

Conmissionrs Chief AIJ into allegations of an ex parte

43./ In Arkansas Louisiana Gas co. v. Ha}Ir.453 U.S. 57Lt 577
(19 stated principles decided under
the Fideral power Act are egually applicable to the Natural
Gas Act because trthe relevant provisions of the two statutes
rare in all material respects substantially identicall
. tfile therefore fo}low our established practice of. citing
inieicnangeably decisions interpreting the pertinent
sections of the two statutes.rl

Gulf Oi1 Corp. v. FERC, 706 F.zd 444 (3d cir. L983), on
ffio relies (NCUC Br. 22) , has no bearing here.
As NCIIC concedes (NCUC Br. 22) , the court in Gulf Oil was
concerned only with the evidentiary support for the
Cornmissionrs computation of a refund'

!_4/
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conmunication arising out of TGPL|s request for oral argument,

the Cornnission, in its initial rehearing order, stated:

While the Conmissionrs rules governing ex parte
comnunications do not apply to procedural
communications that are unrelated to the merits of a
case, trthis is the kind of doubtful situation that
should be treated as involving conments relating to the
merits in order to protect the integrity of the
decisionmaking process.rr In such cases, the agency
should treat the communication as g parte and make the
matter public. At the same time, assuming this to have
been an ex parte communication, we find no harm was
occasioned by it. No party requested rehearing of our
order setting oral argument; and all parties vere
permitted to arlfue. Thusr u€ find the integrity of the
decisionmaking process was not adversely affected by
the previously undisclosed oral request for an oral
argument.

R. 10532-33; 58 FERC at p. 51,O54. 45/ NCUC filed a reguest

for rehearing alleging that the existence of the request reguired

the Cornmission to reinstate the $36 nillion transportation-
revenue remedy that it had elininated on rehearing. On March 15,

L992, without further discussion, the Commission denied NCUCts

subseguent request for rehearing of this ruling.
2. In its brief to this Court, NCUC reasserts (NCIIC Br.

281 that TGPLTs reguest for oral argument was an ex parte

communication prohibited by section 5 U.S.C. S 557(d). NCUC

challenges the Comrnissionts ruling that no harm flowed from the

ex gEe reguest, stating that oral argument before the

45/ Chairman Allday and Commissioner Terzic jointly filed a
separate statement dissenting in part. In their view, the
reguest for oral argrrment h/as procedural in nature, not a
cornmunication relative to the merits of the proceeding, and
therefore, it was not an "g Ete communicationrr within the
meaning and prohibition of the Adroinistrative Procedure Act.
R. 10532-33. 58 FERC at P.51,054.
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Connission is unusual, and the Commission elininated the

transportation-revenue remedy on rehearing--following oral

argument.

As the Conmission explained, however, regardless whether the

coumunication should be treated as ex pgElg, it did not in any

way taint the Counission I s decisionmaking Process . #/ This

ruling vas clearly correct. To have a tainting effect, the ex

parte contact must rrbe of a fundamental nature, tr Amos Treat & Co.

v. ffi., 306 F.zd 260, 262 (D.C. Cir. L962, , and must trseriously

infect the proceedingsr' @ v. Federal Trade

Comsrissiont 354 F.2d 952, 954 (5th Cir. L966)i accord, California

v. FERC, 9th Cir. No. 90-70203, slip op. at 3577 (decided April
3, L992r, American Public Gas Assrn v. Federal Power Commission,

567 F.2d 1015, 1070 (D.C. Cir. L977r. Moreover, in resolving the

issue vhether communications to a quasi-judicial body are

improper, rrone must look to the nature of the communications and

particularly to whether they contain factual matter or other

infomation outside of the record, which the parties did not have

an opportunity to rebut.tr Power Authoritv of the State of New

v. FERC (PASNY), 743 F.2d 93, 110 (2d Cir. 1984) (citing

45/ Contrary to NCUC's suggestion (NCUC Br. L5, 29), a najority
of Comrnissioners did not find that the reguest for oral
arqrument was a prohibited ex parte communication. Rather,
choosing to treat the reguest as 'rone of those doubtful
situatiorlsrtt the majority gave all the parties the benefit
of the doubt, conducted an investigation, disclosed the fact
of the communication on the public record, and uneguivocally
found no harm flowed therefrom.
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PATCO v. E[8A, 672 F.2d 109, 112-113 (D.C. Cir. 1978) ); United

States Lines v. m{C, 584 F.zd 5L9r 533-534 (D.C. Cir. 1978).

Such an exanination here indicates that the Commissionts

decisional processes were in no way tainted. No undiselosed

ilevidencetr was introduced by the request for oral argument;

rather, at most, the request only led to a procedural result --
an opportunity to all pa

oral argument the Conmis

recently pointed out in

rties to ventilate their claims at the

sion scheduled. As the D.C. Circuit
Louisiana Associ-ation of fndependent

Producersr .SEg31r none of the evils associated vith ex parte

contracts from merely affording procedures to ventilate the

partiesr claims since they are not tantanount to "[s]urreptitious
efforts to influence an official charged vith the duty of

deciding contested issues upon an open reeord in accord with

basic principles of our jurisprudencerr quoting tsEA1E -@- v. Fcc,

296 F.Zd 375, 383 (D.C. Cir. 1961) r gE,.- denied, 368 U.S. 841

(196L). As that Court went on to explain (id. at 18-19):

The Administrative Procedure Act bars g
parte communications only if they are
[relevant to the merits of the proceeding.tr
U.S.C. S 557(d) (1) (A). other communieations,
including inquiries into the procedural
status of the case or general background
discussions, are not prohibited. E, e.g,-r
Professional Air Traffic Controllers Orq. v.
EfiBA, 685 F.2d s47, 563 (D.c. Cir. L982).

In this case, all parties received notice and participated

in the oral argi'ument, and, as noted, Do party protested or sought

rehearing the Commissionts decision to hold oral argunent.

ltoreover the Cornmission conducted an investigation and disclosed
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the fact of the communication on the public record, thereby

rtmaintaining the integrity of the process and curing any possible

prejudice ttrat the contacts uay have caused.n Louisiana

Association of Independent Producerr .998E!I at 19 (citing 5 U.S.c.

S 557(d){1) (C) & (D), PNPCO v. FLRA, 585 F.zd 555 & n.36, Sierra

v. Costa, 657 9.2d 298 398-399 (D.c. cir. 1981) ) .

In sum, regardless of whether the conmunication at issue

here is trtreatedrr as an ex parte communication, it is clear that,
as all the Commissioners in this case have agreed, it did not

adversely affect the integrity of the Conmission decisionmaking

process. Thusr as the presumption of honesty and integrity
accorded agency officials stands unrebutted, see Withrow v.

k:Lln, 421 U.S. 35, 43 (1975), the Cornmissionrs finding that

there was no hatm occasioned by the oral request for oral

argiument should not be disturbed.

C. LILeots ArquEents As To Renedv l1s

LILCO contends that the Commission abused its discretion

when it decided not to retain the allocation scheme previously

associated with the transportation-revenue remedy, and apply it
instead to the $75 nilLion passthrough remedy. LILCO requested

on rehearing that the Corunission deduct from the gas cost remedy

922 nillion with interest, the same amount previously allocated

to victims of TGPLTs discriminatory sales practices under ttre

transportation-revenue remedy, to make captive customers shoIe.

Under LILCOTs reguest, the remainder of the gas cost renedy would

be distributed on a pro rata basis to all TGPL customers
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victinized by TGPLTs gas overcharg€sr only after the captive

customers had been compensated for undue discrinination. The

Conmission denied this request in its March 16, L992 order,

e:rplaining that the refunds should be made to the customers sho

paid the gas overcharges.

1. l[be Conmissiourg Refusal Eo ldopt ITILCOTg

LILCO argrues that the Cornmissionrs decision not to adopt

LILCOTs proposed allocation scheme was not supported by reasoned

decisionmaking. (LILCO Br. 25-26). The Coumission, however,

fully set forth its reasoning for denying LfLCOts rehearing

request. The funds needed to satisfy LfLCors allocation method

would have to come out of refunds to other TGPL customers, and,

as the Comnission explained, rrfairness and equity require that
the surcharge amounts already collected . be refunded to the

Transco customers who paid such amounts.rr R. 10555t 58 FERC at p.

6L,928. The Commission added that rrcustomers trho paid the

surcharge are entitled to a refund of amounts paid.m fd.
This approach was eminently fair and reasonable. As noted,

all of TGPLTs so-called favored noncaptive customers, which

received TGPL systeu supply at below-cost prices through TRI and

TEI{CO, rrere led to believe that they were receiving released gas

or other spot market suppliesi none was aware that rrhat it was

receiving was actually TGPL systern supply. Moreover, as noted,

most, Lf not all of TGPLTs rrfavoredrr customers had other Iow-cost

supply options available to them. Therefore, because ordering

these customers to give up part of their refunds to TGPLts
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captive customers would have deprived them of the benefits of
competitive alternatives they lost by choosing supplies from IRI
and TEltCO, LIICOTs proposed reuedy would have been inequitable.

2. ![he Conuissioatg Allocatioa Eehene Does Not

LILCO also arqtrues that the Cornmissionrs allocation seheme is
flawed because it perpetuates the undue discrimination TGPL

inflicted on its captive customers (LIIfO Br. 19) . Our

discussion of the Connissionrs reasoning about the relevant

market and industry circumstances and its approval of various

SMPs, see pp. 50-51-, supra, is equally applicable here. As

noted, the discrinination in this case occurred at a time wtren

captive customers of many different pipelines, excluded from

participation in SMPs, suffered the same kind of discrimination
without remedy. Accordingly, in these circumstances, equity
hardly requires imposing a remedy for only the parties involved

in this case.



-60-

CONCLUSTON

For the reasons explained above, the coumissionrs orders
should be affirmed in aII respects.
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